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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY
X
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION, :
Plaintiff,
10 Civ. ()
- against -
ECF CASE
SANDRA VENETIS, SYSTEMATIC
FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC., SYSTEMATIC
FINANCIAL ASSOCIATES, INC., and
SYSTEMATIC FINANCIAL SERVICES, LLC,
Defendants, : VERIFIED
: COMPLAINT

- and -

VENETIS LLC, JENNIFER VENETIS, and
KEVIN PERSLEY,

Relief Defendants.

X

Plaintiff Securities and Exchange Commission (“Commission”) for its Complaint against
defendants Sandra Venetis, Systematic Financial Services, Inc., Systematic Financial Associates,

Inc., and Systematic Financial Services, LLC (collectively, the “Defendants™), and relief



defendants Venetis LLC, Jennifer Venetis and Kevin Persley (collectively, the “Relief
Defendants™), alleges:
SUMMARY

1. This action concerns an offering fraud and multi-million dollar Ponzi scheme that
was conceived and orchestrated by defendant Sandra Venetis, (“Venetis”), the founding principal
and president of Systematic Financial Associates, Inc. (“SFA”), a registered investment adviser
located in Branchburg, New Jersey. Since at least 1997, Venetis, operating through SFA and
Systematic Financial Services, LLC (“SFS Tax”), as well as through an alter-ego entity,
Systematic Financial Services, Inc. (“SFS Notes™), fraudulently obtained over $11 million from
at least 100 SFA advisory clients, SFS Tax clients and others. The Defendants accomplished the
scheme by fraudulently offering and selling promissory note securities (the “Notes”) in a series
of transactions that the Defendants did not register with the Commission. Many of the victims of
the Defendants’ fraudulent scheme were retired or unsophisticated in securities investments.
Venetis, acting on behalf of the entity defendants, made numerous and Variéd representations to
actual or prospective investors in the course of the fraudulent offerings, including that: I(a)
Venetis would invest the investors’ funds in unspecified investment {/ehicles or in Notes, which
she claimed funded loans to doctors or were related to Medicare payments; (b) the investments
would generate annual returns that ranged from 6 to 11 percent; (c) the returns were tax-free
because of a loophole in the tax code; (d) doctors personally acknowledged their obligation to
repay the loan by co-signing the Notes; (€) the Notes were insured by the Federal Deposit
Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”); and (f) Systematic Financial would pay the investors their

principal upon maturity of the Notes, minus any interest that may have been paid. All of these



claims were entirely false. In reality, Venetis férged the signature of an actual dbctor or signed
the name of a fictitious doctor on the Notes. Venetis also concealed that the purported co-
signatories on the Notes had no knowledge of or involvement in the scheme and received no
proceeds from the Notes offerings.

2. The Defendants’ Notes offerings were unsupported by any investments, assets, or
related revenue. Instead of investing the investors® funds, Venetis systerﬁatically
misappropriated and misused the proceeds of the Notes offerings to pay interest and principal
owed to investors, to pay operating expenses incurred by SFA and SFS Tax, to pay for her own
home mortgage, foreign travel, gambling, and other personal expenses, and to provide funds to
the Relief Defendants. Defendants raised money from investors through fraudulent Notes
offerings as recently as July and August 2010.

VIOLATIONS

3. By virtue of the conduct alleged herein, the Defendants, directly or indirectly,
singly or in concert, have engaged in transactions, acts, practices, and courses of business that
constitute violations of Sections 5(a), 5(c) and 17(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 (“Securities
Act”) [15 U.S.C. §§ 77¢e(a), 77e(c), 77q(2)); Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 (“Exchange Act”) [15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)] and Rule 10b-5 [17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5]; and
Defendants Venetis and SFA violated Sections 206(1) and 206(2) of the Investment Advisers
Act of 1940 (“Advisers Act”) [15 U.S.C. §§ 80b-6(1), 80b-6(2)].

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

4. ‘The Commission brings this action pursuant to the authority conferred upon it by

Section 20(b) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77t(b)], Section 21(d)(1) of the Exchange Act



[15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)(1)] and Section 209(d) of the Advisers Act [15 U.S.C. § 80b-9(d)] seeking a
judgment:' (i) restraining and permanently enjoining Defendants from engaging in the
transactions, acts, practices, and courses of business alleged herein; (i1) ordering Defendants and
Relief Defendants to disgorge their ill-gotten gains and to pay prejudgment interest; (iii) ordering
the Defendants to pay civil money penalties pursuant to Section 20(d) of the Securities Act [15
U.S.C. § 77t(d)], Section 21(d)(3) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)(3)] and Section
209(e) of the Advisers Act. [15 U.S.C. § 80b-9(e)]; (iv) freezing assets of the Defendants and
Relief Defendant Venetis LLC; (V) requiring a verified accounting; (vi) appointing an
independent monitor to oversee Defendants and Relief Defendant Venetis LLC; (vii) requiring
preservation of documents; and (viii) permitting expedited discovery. |

5. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Sections 20(b) and 22(a)
of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 77t(b), 77v(a)], Sections 21v(d) and 27 of the Exchange Act
[15 U.S.C. §§ 78u(d), 78aa] and Sections 209 and 214 of the Advisers Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 80b-9,
80b-14].

6. Venue is proper in the District of New Jersey under Section 22(a) of the Securities
Act[15U.S.C. § 77v(a)], Section 27 of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78aa] and Section 214 of
the Advisers Act [15 U.S.C. § 80b-14] because the Defendants may be found in, are inhabitants
of, or transact business in this district, and offerings and sales of securities and certain of the
transactions, acts, practices, and courses of business constituting the violations alleged in this
Complaint took place in this district.

7. Defendants, directly or indirectly, singly or in concert, have made use of the

means or instruments of transportation or communication in interstate commerce, or of the mails,



in connection with the transactions, acts, practices, and courses of business alleged in this

Complaint.

DEFENDANTS

8. Sandra Venetis, age 59, resides in Whitehouse Station, New Jersey. Venetis

holds Series 6 and 7 securities licenses and is a certified financial planner and a chartered
financial consultant. She is the president and sole principal of SFA, and the sole owner of SFA,
SFS Notes, SFS Tax and Venetis LLC, all of which she operated from the same office. Venetis
orchestrated, executed and controlled the fraudulent Notes offerings.

9. Systematic Financial Associates, Inc. (“SFA”) is a New Jersey corporation with

its principal place of business in Branchburg, New Jersey. SFA is wholly owned by Venetis and
is an investment adviser registered with the Commission since 2007. As of August 2010, SFA
had approximately 1,000 advisory clients and almost $60 million in assets under management.

10. Systematic Financial Services, Inc. (“SFS Notes”) is a New Jersey corporation

wholly owned by Venetis. Venetis created SFS Notes solely for the purposes of conducting the
fraudulent Notes offerings. SFS Notes is not registered with the Commission in any capacity.

11. Systematic Financial Services, LLC (“SFS Tax”) is a New Jersey company

with its principal place of business in Branchburg, New Jersey. SFS Tax offers tax preparation
and accounting services and is wholly owned by Venetis. SFS Tax is not registered with the
Commission in any capacity.

RELIEF DEFENDANTS

12.  Venetis LLC is a New Jersey company with its principal place of business in

Branchburg, New Jersey. Defendant Venetis created Venetis LLC for the purpose of investing in



real estate ventures and the company is purported to be currently inactive. Venetis LLC is not
registered with the Commission in any capacity.

13.  Jennifer Venetis, age 36, is Defendant Venetis” daughter. She resides in

Maryland. Venetis, sometimes acting through the entity defendants, provided thousands of
dollars in ill-gotten gains from the fraudulent schemes to Jennifer Venetis.

14.  Kevin Persley, age 54, is Defendant Venetis’ brother. He resides in New Jersey.

Venetis, sometimes acting through the entity defendants, provided thousands of dollars in ill-
gotten gains from the fraudulent schemes to Persley.

FACTS
The Fraudulent Notes Offerings and Defendants’ Misrepresentations and Omissions

15.  From at least 1997 through August 2010, Defendants offered and sold Notes in
numerous offerings to SFA advisory clients, SFS Tax clients and possibly others. Defendants
conducted the Notes offerings without having any registration statement on file or in effect with
the Commission, as required by the Securities Act, and none of the Defendants’ offerings
described herein qualified for exemption from registration.

16.  Venetis, operating through SFA, SFS Notes, and SFS Tax, personally solicited
and obtained at least $11 million from over one hundred investors to invest in the Notes. Many
of these investors are retired or unsophisticated in securities investments. No registration
statement for the Notes was filed or in effect with the Commission pursuant to the Securities Act
and no exemption from registration exists with respect to the securities and transactions

described herein.



17.  Venetis, acting on behalf of and through the entity defendants, falsely told actual
or prospective investors that she would invest their money in year-long Notes, which purportedly
funded loans to doctors. At various times, Venetis falsely represented to investors that the Notes
were to finance medical receivables, medical malpractice insurance premiums, or quarterly
pension plans, and that the Notes were Medicare “bonds” or otherwise backed by Medicare, or
that the Notes were insured by the FDIC.

18.  Venetis instructed investors wishing to purchase the Notes to make checks
payable to Systematic Financial, which Venetis subsequently deposited into an SFS Notes bank
account over which Venetis had sole signatory authority. Venetis never invested the funds as
promised, and she made no loans to doctors despite her representations to the contrary.

19.  Venetis and the entity defendants did not provide Notes investors with any written
disclosures concerning the investments, except for a one-page promissory note and/or an
“amortization schedule” which falsely purported to show the expected interest payments on the
investment, returns Venetis falsely claimed were tax-free.

20.  The phony Notes promised annual interest rates ranging from approximately 6 to
11 percent, and stated that Systematic Financial would pay the principal at the maturity date, one
year from the date of execution. Venetis further told investors that they could “roll over” their
investments annually by entering into subsequent year-long Notes.

21.  The Notes falsely stated that the investment “shall be used to fund the annual
pension monies due at this time from the Promisor [the doctor signatory].” The Notes further
provided that “Systematic Financial” was responsible for payment in the event of default by the

doctor.



22.  Venetis signed the Notes as President of “Systematic Financial” and the Notes
falsely purported to be co-signed by the doctors who were to receive the Note proceeds.

23.  Venetis further falsely represented to certain investors that the Notes were a
relatively safe, conservative, ﬁxed-iﬂcome investment. To assuage one investor’s concerns
about the safety of his investment, Venetis explained, in a letter on SFA letterhead, that she was
“the one primarily concerned about safety because Systematic is the co-signer on the note,”
which is why Venetis “always diversified the notes among the medical practicgs and never co-
sign more than I can handle.” Venetis also falsely represented that the investors would earn tax-
free annual returns because of a supposed loophole in the tax code.

24.  Lured by Defendants’ promises of higher returns and safe principal, some
investors cashed in bank certificates of deposits in order to obtain funds to invest with
Defendants. Defendants also induced certain investors to withdraw funds from their individual
accounts at large asset management or brokerage firms in order to invest those funds in the
Notes.

25.  In arelated scheme, Venetis fraudulently induced certain investors to invest in a
“side program” which purportedly éffered higher returns than those attainable from an
investrneﬁt in Notes. Rather than investing the investors’ funds to generate the higher returns,
Defendants diverted the investors’ funds to cover, among other things, Venetis’ personal
expenses and to make Ponzi payments. Defendants did not provide investors in this fictitious
“side program” with any documentation concerning the purported investments.

26.  The Notes provided by Defendants to investors purport to be co-signed by doctors

to whom loans were to be made. Contrary to Venetis’ representations to investors, none of the



purported co-signatories received any proceeds from the Notes or had any knowledge of or
involvement in the transactions. Venetis forged all of the “doctor” signatures, either making up
the doctor names or using the names of actual SFA or SFS Tax clients as purported co-
signatories—without authorization.

27.  Venetis repeatedly represented to Notes investors that their investments were
earning the promised returns. These representations were false.

28.  Venetis personally prepared and sent investors annual “amortization schedules.”
These schedules reflected the purported value of their investments in the phony Notes and
showed that the investments were accruing interest at the promised annual rate of return in the
range of 6 to 11 percent.

29. In connection with a December 20, 2009 Note renewal, one investor received an
“amortization schedule” purporting to show the accrued interest and increased value of his
investment. The schedule reflected the initial $15,000 investment made on December 20, 2005,
growing in value to $22,325 as of December 20, 2010, when the Note came due.

30.  These fraudulent schedules showing consistent, positive returns induced investors
to keep their funds in the Notes or in some cases to invest additional sums. When investors
made follow-on investments or decided to “renew” their Notes, Venetis never told them that she
had misappropriated their investments or that she used funds from operating revenue, from other
investors, or elsewhere to make the principal and/or payments on the Notes.

31.  Venetis recommended that one investor, a retired fireman and an SFA advisory
client, invest in Notes in order to diversify his portfolio, and represented that it was a fixed-

income investment upon which he could make monthly draws after retirement. He invested



$50,000 in the notes in 2006 and renewed his investment annually. Based on the fraudulent
annual amortization schedules provided by Venetis, the investor believed his investment was
earning approximately 6.9 percent annual returns. In July 2010, he invested an additional
$75,000, which Venetis solicited during a meeting to review his financial portfolio. Based on his
investment’s purported performance, this investor recommended that his son also invest with
SFA and Venetis. The son, who is currently serving in the U.S. military in Iraq, invested $5,900
in the Notes in March 2008 and an additional $10,000 in October 2008 — monies he intended to
use to purchase a home upon his return from service.

32.  Another SFA advisory client, a retired investor with no financial background,
invested approximately $50,000 in the phony Notes in 2005. Venetis falsely told the investor
that the Note proceeds funded medical malpractice insurance. He renewed the Note annually
and, based on the fraudulent annual amortization schedules provided by Venetis, believed his
investment was earning approximately 6 percent annual returns. In 2009, he recommended that
his wife also invest in the Notes, and she invested $10,000 from the proceeds of a house sale.

33.  Another SFA advisory client, an elderly investor with no financial background,
invested with SFA several years ago. Venetis never told him about the Notes, and he never
authorized any investment in the Notes. Instead, Venetis solicited and obtained approximately
$45,000 from the investor to invest in a “cash” account earning 6.8 percent interest. Venetis
never disclosed to this investor where or whether she actually invested the funds, but Venetis

provided the investor with fabricated written statements showing the investment’s steady growth.
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34.  Venetis continued to offer and sell the Notes to investors as recently as July and
August 2010, when at least five investors invested a total of more than $225,000 in the
fraudulent Notes.

35. At the time that Defendants sold the Notes, Defendants knew or recklessly
disregarded the fact that the Notes and “side” investments were fictitious. Defendants, in the
Notes documentation and in communications with investors, knowingly or recklessly made
material misrepresentations and omissions concerning, for example, Defendants’ use of investor
funds, the safety of invested principal, the risks associated with the investments, and the true
source of payments to investors. |

36.  Venetis also knowingly or recklessly, and without making adequate disclosures to
in\/;estors: (a) used investor funds to pay interest and principal to other investors; (b) converted
investor funds to her personal use; and (c) converted investor funds to the use of the entity
Defendants and the Relief Defendants.

Misappropriation and Looting of Investor Funds

37.  Instead of investing the proceeds of the Notes offerings in loans to doctors, as
represented to investors, Venetis deposited the funds in a SFS Notes bank account at Bank of
America. Venetis is the sole signatory and exercises sole control over that account.

38. Venetis misappropriated and dissipated the investors” funds from the SFS Notes
bank account. She improperly used investor funds to, among other things, pay operating
expenses incurred by SFA and SFS Tax businesses, pay interest and principal owed to investors,
pay her personal expenses and finance her lifestyle, and to make payments to, or for the benefit

of, the Relief Defendants.
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39.  Among other fraudulent devices, Venetis concealed from investors that she used
investor funds to pay her home mortgage and property taxes, to purchase a home for relief
defendant Jennifer Venetis, to pay for improvements on a home owned by relief defendant
Persley, to pay her own gambling debts, and to pay for trips to Alaska, Italy, France, India and
the Caribbean, among other places.

40.  Venetis transferred investor funds to accounts held by SFA and SFS Tax in order
to pay operating expenses. In 2010 alone, Venetis transferred over $108,000 from the SFS Notes
bank accéunt to bank accounts held by SFA and SFS Tax. Venetis is the only signatory on the
SFA and SFS Tax accounts.

41.  Venetis also transferred investor funds to accounts held by the Relief Defendants.
For example, Venetis transferred at least $150,000 to Venetis LLC in 2008. In 2010 alone
Venetis transferred at least $104,000 from the SFS Notes bank account to relief defendant
Jennifer Venetis. In August 2010, Venetis wrote checks totaling at least $10,000 from SFA and
SFS Tax accounts to relief defendant Kevin Persley.

42.  Venetis LLC, Jennifer Venetis and Kevin Persley received proceeds of the fraud,
but did not provide bona fide services or other valuable consideration in exchange for the
payments made to them.

43.  In 2010, shortly before the fraudulent schemes collapsed, Venetis admitted in
conversations with certain SFA employees that she used funds obtained from investors in the
Notes for non-investment purposes such as supporting the operations of Defendants SFA and
SFA Tax. Venetis also admitted that she paid investors with funds obtained from other investors

in the Notes.
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